
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA : Criminal No. 10-223 (RBW)
:

v. :
:

WILLIAM R. CLEMENS, :
: 

Defendant. :

GOVERNMENT’S REPLY TO DEFENDANT’S OPPOSITION
TO NON-PARTY DLA PIPER’S MOTION TO QUASH

DEFENDANT’S SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM (DKT. NO. 31)

The United States of America, through its attorney, the United States Attorney for the

District of Columbia, respectfully submits this reply to defendant William R. Clemens’s opposition

to a motion to quash defendant’s subpoena duces tecum which subpoena defendant issued to a non-

party law firm, DLA Piper US LLP (“DLA Piper”).  Dkt. No. 31.  DLA Piper moved to quash the

subpoena as to twenty documents on the basis of attorney work product doctrine.  Dkt. No. 26.  The

government takes no position with respect to DLA Piper’s assertion of the protections of this

doctrine as to those twenty documents.  The issues regarding that doctrine have been fully joined

by the parties to the subpoena.  

The government, however, files this pleading to address some issues raised by defendant. 

Defendant argues that disclosure of the twenty documents in the possession of DLA Piper are

somehow covered under the government’s obligation under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87

(1963), and its progeny.  Dkt. No. 31 at 17-20.1   As part of this argument, he contends that DLA

Piper was an agent of the government or that it has unfairly provided more information to the

1  The citations herein to the pages in the defendant’s Opposition are to the numbers on the
bottom of the respective page, which are different than the numbers inserted as part of the ECF filing
at the top of the page.
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government than the defense.  Id. at 13-14, 19-20.  Finally, defendant suggests that the government

has somehow impeded its access to the documents DLA Pipe has in its possession.  Id. at 20-21. 

As discussed below, defendant’s arguments are without merit.  DLA Piper has never been a

government agency or agent and it has not disclosed any of the twenty documents to either the

government or the defense.

Factual Background

1.  On August 19, 2010, a District of Columbia Grand Jury returned a six-count Indictment

against defendant.  Dkt. No. 1.  The Indictment charged one count of Obstruction of Congress, in

violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1505 and 1515(b), three counts of False Statements, in violation of

18 U.S.C. §§ 1001(a)(2) and (c)(2), and two counts of Perjury in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1621(1). 

Id.

2.  As detailed in the Indictment, this case arises from defendant’s statements in a 2008

Congressional investigation and hearing, conducted by the United States House of Representatives

Committee on Oversight and Government Reform (“Committee”),  titled “The Mitchell Report: The

Illegal Use of Steroids in Major League Baseball.”  Id. at 7, 9-12.  That hearing, as suggested by the

title, related to a Congressional investigation resulting from a report released by former Senator

George Mitchell on December 13, 2007, as to the use of performance-enhancing drugs (“PEDs”)

by players in Major League Baseball (“MLB”), including defendant.  Id. at 8-9.  At the time of the

Mitchell Report, former Senator Mitchell was a partner in DLA Piper, and it was his firm that

conducted the investigation leading up to that report.  As referred to in the Indictment, and as will

be shown at trial, from the day the Mitchell Report was issued, and continuing thereafter, defendant,

in response to the allegations in that Report, issued a series of public statements denying those
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allegations and attacking those who made or reported them.  Id. at 9.

3.  As set forth in the Indictment:

During the course of the Committee’s 2008 continuing investigation and

hearing, the following matters, among others, were material and pertinent to the

Committee investigation:

i.  The accuracy of the Mitchell Report as it related to the use of
PEDs by CLEMENS and other MLB players;

ii.  The existence of PED use in MLB, including PED use by
CLEMENS and other well-known players;

iii.  PED use by teenage athletes; and 

iv.  Whether MLB planned to adopt the recommendations in the
Mitchell Report and whether additional measures were needed to
detect PED use in MLB.

Id. at 9-10.

4.  As part of the Congressional investigation and hearing, discussed above, defendant

provided a sworn deposition on February 5, 2008, to Committee staff and sworn testimony before

the Committee on February 13, 2008.  Id. at 10-12.

  5.  On August 30, 2010, defendant was arraigned before the Court on the charges in the

Indictment.  Dkt. Entry 8/30/10.  Trial in this matter is scheduled for July 6, 2011, with a motions

hearing set for the day before that date.  Dkt. No. 7.  A hearing on this motion to quash is scheduled

for April 21, 2011, at 1:30 p.m.  Dkt. No. 21.

6.  From the time of the arraignment forward, the government has provided extensive

discovery, including, among other items, advance production of Jencks Act material (including all

3
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grand jury transcripts), as well as all documents it has received from Congress and DLA Piper.2 

Moreover, as defendant acknowledged in his opposition to DLA Piper’s motion to quash, “[t]he

Mitchell Report itself thoroughly disclosed most of the non-privileged communications with DLA

Piper.”  Dkt. No. 31 at 10.

7.  During the course of these matters, both before and after the arraignment, the government

attorneys have met with attorneys for the Committee and DLA Piper about their respective

investigations.  Those organizations have disclosed to the government a significant number of

documents – which have in turn been provided to defendant – but have asserted the respective

privileges of Speech or Debate and work product as to other documents.  In that the government

cannot pierce those privileges, the government attorneys did request of the two organizations that

they review their records to determine if each might have material potentially helpful to the  defense. 

See Dkt. No. 27-5, Hearing Transcript, 12/8/10, at 7-8 (comments of AUSA Durham).3  Both

2  Without revealing in a public pleading who testified in the grand jury, as stated above, all
grand jury transcripts have been provided to the defense.  At the hearing, if the Court so desires, the
government can inform the Court in camera as to the identity of those grand jury witnesses.

3  At the December 8, 2011, status hearing, the government made clear that it would do
whatever it could within its authority to ensure that defendant received a fair trial.  As AUSA
Durham stated at that hearing:

Your Honor, we have met at length with Mr. Sheler [phonetic] who testified
and appeared before the House Committee in February of 2008.  He’s the
representative of the Mitchell Commission.  We have addressed with him our
specific concerns that we understand that there . . . certainly appears to be an attorney
client privilege that would operate.  But we have addressed with Mr. Sheler [sic] the
government’s concern that if there is anything that could be remotely construed as
either Brady or Giglio or otherwise impeachable material that they make a very, very
careful review of their own files and that they make that available to us so we can in
turn make it available to the defense.

I don’t have a quarrel with the mechanism that has been laid out here to
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organizations thereafter provided certain documents responsive to the government’s or defense’s

request, which documents the defense has now.  See Dkt. No. 26-1 at 4-7; Dkt. No. 31 at 14.

8.  At a hearing in this case on December 8, 2011, defense counsel raised the issue of seeking

documents in the hands of the third parties, the Committee and DLA Piper.  Transcript, Dkt. No. 27-

5, at 4-7, 8-9.  The Court suggested that if the defense could not gain voluntary access to the

documents it sought, then the defense could issue subpoenas.  If the organizations believed the

documents were not producible, they would move to quash the respective subpoena, and then the

issue would be ripe for the Court’s consideration.  Id. at 6-7.

9.  On February 10, 2011, defense counsel served a subpoena duces tecum on DLA Piper. 

In response to the subpoena, DLA Piper produced to defense counsel five documents, but, as to

twenty documents which it did not produce, it claimed attorney work product privilege.  Dkt. No.

26-1 at 4-7 (Memorandum in Support of Non-Party DLA Piper’s Motion to Quash Subpoena). 

According to DLA Piper as to the documents withheld, “[t]he internal documents described [in its

Memorandum] have been kept confidential and have not been shown to any person outside DLA

Piper.”  Id. at 4.  Accordingly, DLA Piper, on March 18, 2011, filed its motion to quash the

subpoena as to those twenty documents.  Dkt. No. 26.

ensure that if there is any of this material that Mr. Hardin and his team has a fair
opportunity to review it and use it if it’s admissible at trial.

Hearing Transcript, at 7-8.  Defense counsel then stated that similar steps had been taken by the
government with regard to Congress, and the Committee had raised the issue of the Speech or
Debate privilege.  Id. at 8-9.  The government notes that it took these steps with the Committee and
DLA Piper in an abundance of caution to make sure it obtained any documents or information from
those organizations that was not covered by a privilege.  The government, however, was not bound
to reach out to search for favorable evidence on defendant’s behalf and Brady/Giglio only pertains
to material in the possession of the prosecutors and law enforcement in the Executive Branch.
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10.  On April 6, 2011, defendant filed his opposition to the motion to quash.  Dkt. No. 31.

Legal Arguments

1. The DLA Piper Documents are not Discoverable Under the Government’s
Brady Obligation Because they are Not in the Possession of the Government

Defendant contends that he “has a constitutional right to information in DLA Piper’s files

that may be exculpatory.  The Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment requires the Government to disclose

specific types of evidence to defendants.”  Id. at 17.  Defendant cites, among other cases, Brady and

Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437 (1995).  Defendant’s argument, however, is fatally flawed

because DLA Piper is not a government agency nor does the government have access to its files.

As stated above, the twenty documents withheld by DLA Piper have not been disclosed to

the government or the defense.  They “have been kept confidential and have not been shown to any

persons outside DLA Piper.”  Dkt. No. 26-1 at 4.  

Also, as with the documents in the possession of the Oversight Committee, as discussed in

the pleading also being filed today, documents not in the possession of the Executive Branch are not

in the government’s possession for purposes of discovery in a criminal case.  See e.g.,  United States

v. Trie, 21 F. Supp. 2d 7, 25 n.17 (D.D.C. 1998), “[t]he Congress is not an ‘agency,’ and the DOJ

has no obligation under Brady to disclose information in the possession of Congress that is not also

in the possession of the DOJ or [other relevant executive branch agencies].”  See also United States

v. Safavian, 233 F.R.D. 12, 14 (D.D.C. 2005) (the “government” under Fed. R. Crim. P. 16 “does

not . . . include a committee of the . . . House of Representatives[] because the Congress is a separate

branch of the government”); United States v. Ehrlichman, 389 F. Supp. 95, 97 (D.D.C. 1974) (“Nor

does Brady apply.  The subpoenaed testimony is not in the possession of the Government within the

meaning of that decision, since the [House of Representatives] Subcommittee is neither an
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investigative or a prosecutorial arm or the Executive branch nor an agency of the Government in any

way involved in the offense or related transactions.”). 

This is even more true for a private law firm like DLA Piper.  See, e.g., United States v.

Josleyn, 206 F.3d 144, 153-54 (1st Cir. 2000) (“[w]hile prosecutors may be held accountable for

information known to police investigators, see Kyles, 514 U.S. at 437-38 . . . , we are loath to extend

the analogy from police investigators to cooperating private parties who have their own set of

interests”); United States v. Lekhtman, 2009 WL 5095379, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. 2009) (“Defendants cite

no caselaw that would support the extension of the prosecution’s Brady obligation to information

in the possession of the COE, a not-for-profit, private accrediting organization”).

2. DLA Piper was Not an Agent of the Government and the Government did
Not Delegate its Brady Obligation to DLA Piper

Defendant argues that “[t]he September 1, 2010 email from DLA Piper’s lead investigator

to one of the prosecutors assigned to this case reveals that the Government outsourced these

fundamental constitutional rights to DLA Piper.”  Defendant then contends he should have access

to the firm’s documents to test whether it performed this function appropriately and whether the

government violated the Constitution when it made its request to the firm.  Dkt. No. 31 at 18. 

Again, these defense arguments are without merit.4 

In Calley v. Callaway, 519 F.2d 184, 220-24 (5th Cir. 1975) (en banc), a case involving the

My Lai massacre, the Court addressed, in the context of a habeas review, a Due Process challenge

4  It is hard to imagine how these asserted reasons for need of access to the confidential
documents could in any way be a basis for access to documents held by a private party.  The request
to DLA Piper no more made it an agent of the government, than the government making a request
to DLA Piper for documents that might be helpful to the defense made the government an agent for
the defense.

7
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based on the defendant’s inability to obtain certain requested materials from a House Subcommittee. 

The Court then found “that there was no Brady due process problem in this case.  The testimony in

question was never available to the prosecution, which did not benefit from the information, but was

not responsible for its nonproduction.”  Id. at 223.5  The Court also noted that “[t]here is no

prosecutorial dereliction in this case. . . .   [T]rial counsel was actively involved in communication

and correspondence with Congress in an attempt to obtain the requested materials.  But the

information was denied to both parties.”  Id. at 224.

Similarly, in this case, the information possessed by DLA Piper has been denied to both

parties.  In an attempt to meet all of its discovery obligations, and in an abundance of caution,

however, the government, as did the prosecutor in Calley, sought to determine if DLA Piper was in

possession of any information exculpatory for defendant or incriminating as to any potential witness

at the criminal trial.  That is clear from the first paragraph of the September 1, 2010, email from

DLA Piper to one of the prosecutors in this matter.6

  3. The Government Has No Access to the DLA Piper Documents and Has Not
Impeded Defendant’s Access to those Documents

Finally, defendant contends that, “[b]ecause the Government has not produced law

enforcement reports of the meetings and interviews attended by both DLA Piper personnel and

federal law enforcement personnel, the only way for Mr. Clemens to test DLA Piper’s credibility

assessment [as to Brian McNamee] is to get that information from DLA Piper.”  Dkt. No. 31 at 20-

5  The Court noted that “[t]he situation most closely resembling the Brady issue presented
in this case occurred in United States v. Ehrlichman, D.D.C., 1974, 389 F. Supp. 95.”  The court
then relied on the same quote from Ehrlichman that is set forth above in the text.

6  As noted in defendant’s Opposition, this email can be provided to the Court at the hearing. 
Dkt. No. 31 at 14, n.14.
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21.    This argument is without merit, and clearly not a reason for the requested access.

As set forth in the Mitchell Report, federal law enforcement officials made available two

witnesses on separate occasions to Senator Mitchell.7   One witness, Kirk Radomski, had entered

a guilty plea in the Northern District of California and was cooperating pursuant to a plea agreement. 

The second witness, Brian McNamee, had entered into a debriefing agreement with prosecutors from

the Northern District of California and was not charged with any crime.8   As Senator Mitchell stated

in his Report:

I interviewed Radomski four times (in June, July , October, and November
2007), three times in person, once by telephone.  Federal law enforcement officials
and members of my staff participated with me in all of the interviews. . . . 

During each of the interviews, the law enforcement officials warned
Radomski that if he made any false statements he would forfeit their commitments
to recommend a more lenient sentence and he would face further criminal jeopardy. 
Before the interviews, Radomski had been debriefed extensively by federal
prosecutors and agents.  They subsequently confirmed that the information that he
provided to us in the interviews was consistent with the information he had
previously provided to them.  

Mitchell Report, at 146-47, Dkt. No. 26-8.

Similarly, as to Mr. McNamee, Senator Mitchell stated in his Report:

Brian McNamee said that he was a direct eyewitness and participant in
alleged illegal use by three players who he served as a personal trainer.  I interviewed
him three times (in July, October, and December 2007), once in person and twice by

7  These were federal prosecutors and agents from the Northern District of California who
were working on other investigations, including that of former MLB player Barry Bonds.  The
United States Attorney’s Office for the District of Columbia did not become involved in this matter
until after the Committee referred defendant to the Department of Justice for criminal investigation
in late February, 2008.

8  Defendant, in his subpoena, sought documents as to three individuals, Radomski,
McNamee and Jose Canseco.  See Dkt. No. 26-1 at 4.  These federal law enforcement officials from
California were not involved in Senator Mitchell meeting with Canseco.
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telephone. [footnote 371 then reads as follows – In addition, a member of my
investigative staff interviewed him by telephone on a fourth occasion in December
2007; his personal lawyer also participated.]  His personal lawyer participated in
each interview.  Federal law enforcement officials and members of my staff
participated with me in all of the interviews. . . . 

During each of the interviews, the law enforcement officials warned him that
he faced criminal jeopardy if he made any false statements.  With respect to two of
the player, McNamee was acting against his financial interest in disclosing this
information.  Before the interviews, McNamee had been debriefed extensively by
federal prosecutors and agents.  They subsequently confirmed that the information
he provided to us in his interviews was consistent with the information he had
previously provided to them.

Id. 147-48; Dkt. No. 26-8.

In other words, as to Radomski and McNamee, the information they provided was consistent

with what they previously had stated in interviews with the federal law enforcement officials, and

those interview reports have been turned over to the defense in discovery for their use at trial. 

Furthermore, defendant knows the identities of these witnesses, including the federal law

enforcement officials, and can seek to interview any of them and seek any relevant documents from

the respective individual.  Finally, the Mitchell Report also summarized what the two men told

Senator Mitchell.  Dkt. No. 26-8 (at various pages throughout the report).   It is difficult to envision

how defendant has been denied any relevant information.  Moreover, the fact that the federal law

enforcement officials worked with Senator Mitchell in this regard does not transform confidential

documents held by DLA Piper into documents that are in the government’s possession or control. 

See United States v. Josleyn, 206 F.3d at 153-54 (notwithstanding extensive cooperation between

private party (corporation) and government, allegedly favorable information not disclosed to

government by corporation was not attributable to the government).  For these reasons, defendant’s

argument in this regard is without merit.
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Conclusion

WHEREFORE, for the foregoing reasons, the United States respectfully submits that the

Court should reject defendant’s arguments that documents in the possession of DLA Piper are

considered within the possession of the government as part of the government’s disclosure

obligation under Brady and its progeny.

Respectfully Submitted,

RONALD C. MACHEN JR.
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY
D.C. Bar # 447889

/ s  /
By: __________________________________________

STEVEN J. DURHAM
D.C. Bar # 993780
DANIEL P. BUTLER
D.C. Bar # 417718
Assistant United States Attorneys
Fraud & Public Corruption Section
555 Fourth Street, N.W., 5th Floor
Washington, D.C.  20530
(202) 252-7862 and (202) 252-7881
Steven.Durham@USDOJ.Gov
Daniel.Butler@USDOJ.Gov
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